



Cover photo: South building of the Centre William Rappard, WTO headquarters. The red chairs in the image and other furniture for the South building were procured by the WTO Secretariat through a competitive request for proposals process to determine which bidder would provide the best value for money. Several bids were received.

© WTO, photo Reardon

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DISCLAIMER	2
WTO AGREEMENTS	
1. GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE 1994 (GATT 1994)) 4
2. AGREEMENT ON TRADE-RELATED INVESTMENT MEASURES (TRIMS AGREEMENT)	6
3. GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TRADE IN SERVICES (GATS) 3.1 BASIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES: REFERENCE PAPER	7
4. AGREEMENT ON TRADE-RELATED ASPECTS OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, AS AMENDED ON 23 JANUARY 2017 (TRIPS AGREEMENT)	11
5. AGREEMENT ON GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT, AS AMENDED ON 30 MARCH 2012 (GPA 2012)	15
DECISIONS AND DECLARATIONS PERTAINING TO WTO WORK ON THE INTERACTION BETWEEN TRADE AND COMPETITION POLICY	
1. SINGAPORE WTO MINISTERIAL DECLARATION	17
2. DECISION ON THE WORKING GROUP ON THE INTERACTION BETWEEN TRADE AND COMPETITION POLICY	18
3. DOHA WTO MINISTERIAL DECLARATION	19
4. DECISION ON THE DOHA WORK PROGRAMME	20
HISTORICAL PRE-WTO DOCUMENT	
1 LIAVANA CHARTER FOR AN INTERNATIONAL TRADE ORGANIZATION	2.0

DISCLAIMER

This publication has been prepared under the WTO Secretariat's own responsibility as a background resource for its technical assistance activities. It does not reflect the positions or opinions of WTO members and is without prejudice to their rights and obligations under the WTO agreements. The publication is not intended to provide any authoritative or legal interpretation of the nature and scope of the provisions of the WTO agreements and shall in no way be read or understood to have any legal implications whatsoever.

WTO AGREEMENTS

1. GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE 1994 (GATT 1994)*

Article XVII State Trading Enterprises

- 1.[**](a) Each contracting party undertakes that if it establishes or maintains a State enterprise, wherever located, or grants to any enterprise, formally or in effect, exclusive or special privileges,[***] such enterprise shall, in its purchases or sales involving either imports or exports, act in a manner consistent with the general principles of non-discriminatory treatment prescribed in this Agreement for governmental measures affecting imports or exports by private traders.
- (b) The provisions of subparagraph (a) of this paragraph shall be understood to require that such enterprises shall, having due regard to the other provisions of this Agreement, make any such purchases or sales solely in accordance with commercial considerations, including price, quality, availability, marketability, transportation and other conditions of purchase or sale, and shall afford the enterprises of the other contracting parties adequate opportunity, in accordance with customary business practice, to compete for participation in such purchases or sales.

^{*} GATT 1994.

I** The operations of Marketing Boards, which are established by contracting parties and are engaged in purchasing or selling, are subject to the provisions of subparagraphs (a) and (b). The activities of Marketing Boards which are established by contracting parties and which do not purchase or sell but lay down regulations covering private trade are governed by the relevant Articles of this Agreement. The charging by a state enterprise of different prices for its sales of a product in different markets is not precluded by the provisions of this Article, provided that such different prices are charged for commercial reasons, to meet conditions of supply and demand in export markets.

^{****} Governmental measures imposed to insure standards of quality and efficiency in the operation of external trade, or privileges granted for the exploitation of national natural resources but which do not empower the government to exercise control over the trading activities of the enterprise in question, do not constitute "exclusive or special privileges".

^[*****] A country receiving a "tied loan" is free to take this loan into account as a "commercial consideration" when purchasing requirements abroad.

- (c) No contracting party shall prevent any enterprise (whether or not an enterprise described in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph) under its jurisdiction from acting in accordance with the principles of subparagraphs (a) and (b) of this paragraph.
- 4. (a) Contracting parties shall notify the CONTRACTING PARTIES of the products which are imported into or exported from their territories by enterprises of the kind described in paragraph 1 (a) of this Article.
- (b) A contracting party establishing, maintaining or authorizing an import monopoly of a product, which is not the subject of a concession under Article II, shall, on the request of another contracting party having a substantial trade in the product concerned, inform the CONTRACTING PARTIES of the import mark-up^[******] on the product during a recent representative period, or, when it is not possible to do so, of the price charged on the resale of the product.
- (c) The CONTRACTING PARTIES may, at the request of a contracting party which has reason to believe that its interest under this Agreement are being adversely affected by the operations of an enterprise of the kind described in paragraph 1 (a), request the contracting party establishing, maintaining or authorizing such enterprise to supply information about its operations related to the carrying out of the provisions of this Agreement.
- (d) The provisions of this paragraph shall not require any contracting party to disclose confidential information which would impede law enforcement or otherwise be contrary to the public interest or would prejudice the legitimate commercial interests of particular enterprises.

^{******} The term "import mark-up" in this paragraph shall represent the margin by which the price charged by the import monopoly for the imported product (exclusive of internal taxes within the purview of Article III, transportation, distribution, and other expenses incident to the purchase, sale or further processing, and a reasonable margin of profit) exceeds the landed cost.

2. AGREEMENT ON TRADE-RELATED INVESTMENT MEASURES (TRIMS AGREEMENT)*

Article 9

Review by the Council for Trade in Goods

Not later than five years after the date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement, the Council for Trade in Goods shall review the operation of this Agreement and, as appropriate, propose to the Ministerial Conference amendments to its text. In the course of this review, the Council for Trade in Goods shall consider whether the Agreement should be complemented with provisions on investment policy and competition policy.

^{*} TRIMS Agreement.

3. GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TRADE IN SERVICES (GATS)*

Article VIII

Monopolies and Exclusive Service Suppliers

- 1. Each Member shall ensure that any monopoly supplier of a service in its territory does not, in the supply of the monopoly service in the relevant market, act in a manner inconsistent with that Member's obligations under Article II and specific commitments.
- 2. Where a Member's monopoly supplier competes, either directly or through an affiliated company, in the supply of a service outside the scope of its monopoly rights and which is subject to that Member's specific commitments, the Member shall ensure that such a supplier does not abuse its monopoly position to act in its territory in a manner inconsistent with such commitments.
- 3. The Council for Trade in Services may, at the request of a Member which has a reason to believe that a monopoly supplier of a service of any other Member is acting in a manner inconsistent with paragraph 1 or 2, request the Member establishing, maintaining or authorizing such supplier to provide specific information concerning the relevant operations.
- 4. If, after the date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement, a Member grants monopoly rights regarding the supply of a service covered by its specific commitments, that Member shall notify the Council for Trade in Services no later than three months before the intended implementation of the grant of monopoly rights and the provisions of paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of Article XXI shall apply.
- 5. The provisions of this Article shall also apply to cases of exclusive service suppliers, where a Member, formally or in effect, (a) authorizes or establishes a small number of service suppliers and (b) substantially prevents competition among those suppliers in its territory.

^{*} GATS.

Article IX

Business Practices

- 1. Members recognize that certain business practices of service suppliers, other than those falling under Article VIII, may restrain competition and thereby restrict trade in services.
- 2. Each Member shall, at the request of any other Member, enter into consultations with a view to eliminating practices referred to in paragraph 1. The Member addressed shall accord full and sympathetic consideration to such a request and shall cooperate through the supply of publicly available non-confidential information of relevance to the matter in question. The Member addressed shall also provide other information available to the requesting Member, subject to its domestic law and to the conclusion of satisfactory agreement concerning the safeguarding of its confidentiality by the requesting Member.

. . .

Article XVIII

Additional Commitments

Members may negotiate commitments with respect to measures affecting trade in services not subject to scheduling under Articles XVI or XVII, including those regarding qualifications, standards or licensing matters. Such commitments shall be inscribed in a Member's Schedule.

3.1 BASIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES: REFERENCE PAPER*

24 April 1996

Negotiating group on basic telecommunications

The following are definitions and principles on the regulatory framework for the basic telecommunications services.

Definitions

Users mean service consumers and service suppliers.

Essential facilities mean facilities of a public telecommunications transport network or service that:

- (a) are exclusively or predominantly provided by a single or limited number of suppliers; and
- (b) cannot feasibly be economically or technically substituted in order to provide a service.

A major supplier is a supplier which has the ability to materially affect the terms of participation (having regard to price and supply) in the relevant market for basic telecommunications services as a result of:

- (a) Control over essential facilities; or
- (b) use of its position in the market.

^{*} Reference Paper agreed on by some participants of the GATS Negotiating Group on Basic Telecommunications Services. 24 April 1996.

[&]quot;Reference Paper" on Regulatory Principles". In 1997, Members concluded special GATS negotiations on basic telecommunications services as a result of which many Members entered into additional commitments under Article XVIII of the GATS by drawing upon the provisions of a negotiated "Reference Paper" containing pro-competitive regulatory principles applicable to the telecommunications sector. In these negotiations, Members could elect to insert any or all of the provisions of the model Reference Paper into their Schedules and could also insert modified versions of these provisions. The Reference Paper provisions contained in the Schedules of individual Members may therefore differ from the model provisions below.

1. Competitive safeguards

1.1 Prevention of anti-competitive practices in telecommunications

Appropriate measures shall be maintained for the purpose of preventing suppliers who, alone or together, are a major supplier from engaging in or continuing anti-competitive practices.

1.2 Safeguards

The anti-competitive practices referred to above shall include in particular:

- (a) engaging in anti-competitive cross-subsidization;
- (b) using information obtained from competitors with anti-competitive results; and
- (c) not making available to other services suppliers on a timely basis technical information about essential facilities and commercially relevant information which are necessary for them to provide services.

. . .

3. Universal service

Any Member has the right to define the kind of universal service obligation it wishes to maintain. Such obligations will not be regarded as anti-competitive per se, provided they are administered in a transparent, non-discriminatory and competitively neutral manner and are not more burdensome than necessary for the kind of universal service defined by the Member.

. . .

4. AGREEMENT ON TRADE-RELATED ASPECTS OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, AS AMENDED ON 23 JANUARY 2017 (TRIPS AGREEMENT)*

PART I

GENERAL PROVISIONS AND BASIC PRINCIPLES

...

Article 8

Principles

2. Appropriate measures, provided that they are consistent with the provisions of this Agreement, may be needed to prevent the abuse of intellectual property rights by right holders or the resort to practices whichunreasonably restrain trade or adversely affect the international transfer of technology.

PART II

STANDARDS CONCERNING THE AVAILABILITY, SCOPE AND USE OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

^{*} TRIPS Agreement.

PART VI TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

. . .

Article 67

Technical Cooperation

In order to facilitate the implementation of this Agreement, developed country Members shall provide, on request and on mutually agreed terms and conditions, technical and financial cooperation in favour of developing and least-developed country Members. Such cooperation shall include assistance in the preparation of laws and regulations on the protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights as well as on the prevention of their abuse, and shall include support regarding the establishment or reinforcement of domestic offices and agencies relevant to these matters, including the training of personnel.

SECTION 5: PATENTS

Article 31

Other Use Without Authorization of the Right Holder

Where the law of a Member allows for other use⁷ of the subject matter of a patent without the authorization of the right holder, including use by the government or third parties authorized by the government, the following provisions shall be respected:

(b) such use may only be permitted if, prior to such use, the proposed user has made efforts to obtain authorization from the right holder on reasonable commercial terms and conditions and that such efforts have not been successful within a reasonable period of time. This requirement may be waived by a Member in the case of a national emergency or other circumstances of extreme urgency or in cases of public non-commercial use. In situations of national emergency or other circumstances of extreme urgency, the right holder shall, nevertheless, be notified as soon as reasonably practicable. In the case of public non-commercial use, where the government or contractor, without making a patent search, knows or has demonstrable grounds to know that a valid patent is or will be used by or for the government, the right holder shall be informed promptly;

(f) any such use shall be authorized predominantly for the supply of the domestic market of the Member authorizing such use;

(k) Members are not obliged to apply the conditions set forth in subparagraphs (b) and (f) where such use is permitted to remedy a practice determined after judicial or administrative process to be anti-competitive. The need to correct anti-competitive practices may be taken into account in determining the amount of remuneration in such cases. Competent authorities shall have the authority to refuse termination of authorization if and when the conditions which led to such authorization are likely to recur:

^{7 &}quot;Other use" refers to use other than that allowed under Article 30.

SECTION 8: CONTROL OF ANTI-COMPETITIVE PRACTICES IN CONTRACTUAL LICENCES

Article 40

- 1. Members agree that some licensing practices or conditions pertaining to intellectual property rights which restrain competition may have adverse effects on trade and may impede the transfer and dissemination of technology.
- 2. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent Members from specifying in their legislation licensing practices or conditions that may in particular cases constitute an abuse of intellectual property rights having an adverse effect on competition in the relevant market. As provided above, a Member may adopt, consistently with the other provisions of this Agreement, appropriate measures to prevent or control such practices, which may include for example exclusive grantback conditions, conditions preventing challenges to validity and coercive package licensing, in the light of the relevant laws and regulations of that Member.
- 3. Each Member shall enter, upon request, into consultations with any other Member which has cause to believe that an intellectual property right owner that is a national or domiciliary of the Member to which the request for consultations has been addressed is undertaking practices in violation of the requesting Member's laws and regulations on the subject matter of this Section, and which wishes to secure compliance with such legislation, without prejudice to any action under the law and to the full freedom of an ultimate decision of either Member. The Member addressed shall accord full and sympathetic consideration to, and shall afford adequate opportunity for, consultations with the requesting Member, and shall cooperate through supply of publicly available non-confidential information of relevance to the matter in question and of other information available to the Member, subject to domestic law and to the conclusion of mutually satisfactory agreements concerning the safeguarding of its confidentiality by the requesting Member.
- 4. A Member whose nationals or domiciliaries are subject to proceedings in another Member concerning alleged violation of that other Member's laws and regulations on the subject matter of this Section shall, upon request, be granted an opportunity for consultations by the other Member under the same conditions as those foreseen in paragraph 3.

5. AGREEMENT ON GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT, AS AMENDED ON 30 MARCH 2012 (GPA 2012)*

Article VIII

Conditions for Participation

- 4. Where there is supporting evidence, a Party, including its procuring entities, may exclude a supplier on grounds such as:
 - d) final judgments in respect of serious crimes or other serious offences:
 - e) professional misconduct or acts or omissions that adversely reflect on the commercial integrity of the supplier; or

Article XIII

Limited Tendering

- Provided that it does not use this provision for the purpose of avoiding competition among suppliers or in a manner that discriminates against suppliers of any other Party or protects domestic suppliers, a procuring entity may use limited tendering and may choose not to apply Articles VII through IX, X (paragraphs 7 through 11), XI, XII, XIV and XV only under any of the following circumstances:
 - a) where:

iv. the tenders submitted have been collusive, provided that the requirements of the tender documentation are not substantially modified;

^{*} GPA.

DECISIONS AND DECLARATIONS PERTAINING TO WTO WORK ON THE INTERACTION BETWEEN TRADE AND COMPETITION POLICY

1. SINGAPORE WTO MINISTERIAL DECLARATION*

20. Having regard to the existing WTO provisions on matters related to investment and competition policy and the built-in agenda in these areas, including under the TRIMs Agreement, and on the understanding that the work undertaken shall not prejudge whether negotiations will be initiated in the future, we also agree to:

- establish a working group to examine the relationship between trade and investment; and
- establish a working group to study issues raised by Members relating to the interaction between trade and competition policy, including anti-competitive practices, in order to identify any areas that may merit further consideration in the WTO framework.

These groups shall draw upon each other's work if necessary and also draw upon and be without prejudice to the work in UNCTAD and other appropriate intergovernmental fora. As regards UNCTAD, we welcome the work under way as provided for in the Midrand Declaration and the contribution it can make to the understanding of issues. In the conduct of the work of the working groups, we encourage cooperation with the above organizations to make the best use of available resources and to ensure that the development dimension is taken fully into account. The General Council will keep the work of each body under review, and will determine after two years how the work of each body should proceed. It is clearly understood that future negotiations, if any, regarding multilateral disciplines in these areas, will take place only after an explicit consensus decision is taken among WTO Members regarding such negotiations.

. . .

^{*} Declaration of the Ministerial Conference adopted on 13 December 1996 (WT/MIN(96)/DEC, 18 December 1996, pages 7 and 8).

2. DECISION ON THE WORKING GROUP ON THE INTERACTION BETWEEN TRADE AND COMPETITION POLICY*

The General Council ... took note of the reports of the other WTO bodies, including the reports from the bodies under the Plurilateral Trade Agreements, took note of the introductory statements by the Chairpersons and took the following action:

...

(3) The General Council decides that the Working Group on the Interaction between Trade and Competition Policy shall continue the educative work that it has been undertaking pursuant to paragraph 20 of the Singapore Ministerial Declaration. In the light of the limited number of meetings that the Group will be able to hold in 1999, the Working Group, while continuing at each meeting to base its work on the study of issues raised by Members relating to the interaction between trade and competition policy, including anti-competitive practices, would benefit from a focused discussion on: (i) the relevance of fundamental WTO principles of national treatment, transparency, and most-favoured-nation treatment to competition policy and vice versa; (ii) approaches to promoting cooperation and communication among Members, including in the field of technical cooperation; and (iii) the contribution of competition policy to achieving the objectives of the WTO, including the promotion of international trade. The Working Group will continue to ensure that the development dimension and the relationship with investment are fully taken into account. It is understood that this decision is without prejudice to any future decision that might be taken by the General Council, including in the context of its existing work programme.

...

^{*} Decision of the General Council of 9-11 and 18 December 1998 (WT/GC/M/32, 9 February 1999, page 52). At its meetings of 9-11 and 18 December 1998, the General Council reviewed WTO activities and reports of WTO bodies, including the Working Group on the Interaction between Trade and Competition Policy.

3. DOHA WTO MINISTERIAL DECLARATION*

Interaction Between Trade And Competition Policy

23. Recognizing the case for a multilateral framework to enhance the contribution of competition policy to international trade and development, and the need for enhanced technical assistance and capacity-building in this area as referred to in paragraph 24, we agree that negotiations will take place after the Fifth Session of the Ministerial Conference on the basis of a decision to be taken, by explicit consensus, at that Session on modalities of negotiations.

24. We recognize the needs of developing and least-developed countries for enhanced support for technical assistance and capacity building in this area, including policy analysis and development so that they may better evaluate the implications of closer multilateral cooperation for their development policies and objectives, and human and institutional development. To this end, we shall work in cooperation with other relevant intergovernmental organisations, including UNCTAD, and through appropriate regional and bilateral channels, to provide strengthened and adequately resourced assistance to respond to these needs.

25. In the period until the Fifth Session, further work in the Working Group on the Interaction between Trade and Competition Policy will focus on the clarification of: core principles, including transparency, non-discrimination and procedural fairness, and provisions on hardcore cartels; modalities for voluntary cooperation; and support for progressive reinforcement of competition institutions in developing countries through capacity building. Full account shall be taken of the needs of developing and least-developed country participants and appropriate flexibility provided to address them.

^{*} Declaration of the Ministerial Conference adopted on 14 November 2001 (WT/MIN(01)/DEC/1, 20 November 2001, page 5).

4. DECISION ON THE DOHA WORK PROGRAMME*

Doha Work Programme

...

1. The General Council reaffirms the Ministerial Declarations and Decisions adopted at Doha and the full commitment of all Members to give effect to them. The Council emphasizes Members' resolve to complete the Doha Work Programme fully and to conclude successfully the negotiations launched at Doha. Taking into account the Ministerial Statement adopted at Cancún on 14 September 2003, and the statements by the Council Chairman and the Director-General at the Council meeting of 1516 December 2003, the Council takes note of the report by the Chairman of the Trade Negotiations Committee (TNC) and agrees to take action as follows:

. . .

g. ..

Relationship between Trade and Investment, Interaction between Trade and Competition Policy and Transparency in Government Procurement: the Council agrees that these issues, mentioned in the Doha Ministerial Declaration in paragraphs 20-22, 23-25 and 26 respectively, will not form part of the Work Programme set out in that Declaration and therefore no work towards negotiations on any of these issues will take place within the WTO during the Doha Round.

• • •

^{*} Decision of the General Council of 1 August 2004 (WT/L/579, 2 August 2004, pages 1 and 3).

HISTORICAL PRE-WTO DOCUMENT

HAVANA CHARTER FOR AN INTERNATIONAL TRADE ORGANIZATION*

FINAL ACT OF THE UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ON TRADE AND EMPLOYMENT

CHAPTER V: RESTRICTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES

Article 46

General Policy towards Restrictive Business practices

- 1. Each Member shall take appropriate measures and shall co-operate with the Organization to prevent, on the part of private or public commercial enterprises, business practices affecting international trade which restrain competition, limit access to markets, or foster monopolistic control, whenever such practices have harmful effects on the expansion of production or trade and interfere with the achievement of any of the other objectives act forth in Article 1.
- 2. In order that the Organization may decide in a particular instance whether a practice has or is about to have the effect indicated in paragraph 1, the Members agree, without limiting paragraph 1, that complaints regarding any of the practices listed in paragraph 3 shall be subject to investigation in accordance with the procedure regarding complaints provided for in Articles 48 and 50, whenever
 - (a) such a complaint is presented to the Organization, and

^{*} Havana Charter for an International Trade Organization, United Nations Conference on Trade and Employment – Held at Havana, Cuba – From 21 November 1947 to 24 March 1948 – Final act and related documents (UN Doc E/CONE_2/78). The United Nations Conference on Trade and Employment, held in Havana, Cuba, in 1947, adopted the Havana Charter for the International Trade Organization (aka the ITO Charter) which was meant to establish a multilateral trade organization. For various reasons, the Charter never came into force. It was decided to take the Chapter on Commercial Policy of the Havana Charter (Chapter IV) and convert it, with certain additions, into the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), which entered into force in 1948. The GATT became the only multilateral instrument governing international trade from 1948 until the WTO was established in 1995. Chapter V of the Havana Charter included multilateral provisions pertaining to competition policy (restrictive business practices).

- (b) the practice is engaged in, or made effective, by one or more private or public commercial enterprises or by any combination, agreement or other arrangement between any such enterprises, and
- (c) such commercial enterprises, individually or collectively, possess effective control of trade among a number of countries in one or more products.
- 3. The practices referred to in paragraph 2 are the following:
- (a) fixing prices, terms or conditions to be observed in dealing with others in the purchase, sale or lease of any product;
- (b) excluding enterprises from, or allocating or dividing, any territorial market or field of business activity, or allocating customers, or fixing sales quotas or purchase quotas;
- (c) discriminating against particular enterprises;
- (d) limiting production or fixing production quotas;
- (e) preventing by agreement the development or application of technology or invention whether patented or unpatented;
- (f) extending the use of rights under patents, trade marks or copyrights granted by any Member to matters which, according to its laws and regulations, are not within the scope of such grants, or to products or conditions of production, use or sale which are likewise not the subject of such grants:
- (g) any similar practices which the Organization may declare, by a majority of two thirds of the Members present and voting, to be restrictive business practices.

Article 47

Consultation Procedure

Any affected Member which considers that in any particular instance a practice exists (whether engaged in by private or public commercial enterprises) which has or is about to have the effect indicated in paragraph 1 of Article 46 may consult other Members directly or request the Organization to arrange for consultation with particular Members with a view to reaching mutually satisfactory conclusions. If requested by the Member and if it considers such action to be justified, the Organization shall arrange for and assist in such consultation. Action under this Article shall be without prejudice to the procedure provided for in Article 48

Article 48

Investigation Procedure

- 1. In accordance with paragraphs 2 and 8 of Article 46, any affected Member on its own behalf or any Member on behalf of any affected person, enterprise or organization within that Member's jurisdiction, may present a written complaint to the Organization that in any particular instance a practice exists (whether engaged in by private or public commercial enterprises) which has or is about to have the effect indicated in paragraph 1 of Article 46; Provided that in the case of complaints against a public commercial enterprise acting independently of any other enterprise, such complaints may be presented only by a Member on its own behalf and only after the Member has resorted to the procedure of Article 47.
- 2. The Organization shall prescribe the minimum information to be included in complaints under this Article. This information shall give substantial indication of the nature and harmful effects of the practices.
- 3. The Organization shall consider each complaint presented in accordance with paragraph 1. If the Organization deems it appropriate, it shall request Members concerned to furnish supplementary information, for example, information from commercial enterprises within their jurisdiction. After reviewing the relevant information, the Organization shall decide whether an investigation is justified.

- 4. If the Organization decides that an investigation is justified, it shall inform all Members of the complaint, request any Member to furnish such additional information relevant to the complaint as the Organization may deem necessary, and shall conduct or arrange for hearings on the complaint. Any Member, and any person, enterprise or organization on whose behalf the complaint has been made, as well as the commercial enterprises alleged to have engaged in the practice complained of, shall be afforded reasonable opportunity to be heard.
- The Organization shall review all information available and decide whether the conditions specified in paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 46 are present and the practice in question has had, has or is about to have the effect indicated in paragraph 1 of that Article.
- The Organization shall inform all Members of its decision and the reasons therefore.
- 7. If the Organization decides that in any particular case the conditions specified in paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 46 are present and that the practice in question has had, has or is about to have the effect indicated in paragraph 1 of that Article, it shall request each Member concerned to take every possible remedial action, and may also recommend to the Members concerned remedial measures to be carried out in accordance with their respective laws and procedures.
- The Organization may request any Member concerned to report fully on the remedial action it has taken in any particular case.
- As soon as possible after its proceedings in respect of any complaint under this Article have been provisionally or finally closed. the Organization shall prepare and publish a report showing fully the decisions reached, the reasons therefore and any measures recommended to the Members concerned. The Organization shall not, if a Member so requests, disclose confidential information furnished by that Member, which if disclosed would substantially damage the legitimate business interests of a commercial enterprise.
- 10. The Organization shall report to all Members and make public the remedial action which has been taken by the Members concerned in any particular case.

Article 49

Studies relating to Restrictive Business Practices

1. The Organization is authorized:

- (a) to conduct studies, either on its own initiative or at the request of any Member or of any organ of the United Nations or of any other inter-governmental organization, relating to
 - general aspects of restrictive business practices affecting international trade;
 - (ii) conventions, laws and procedures concerning, for example, incorporation, company registration, investments, securities, prices, markets, fair trade practices, trade marks, copyrights, patents and the exchange and development of technology in so far as they are relevant to restrictive business practices affecting international trade; and
 - (iii) the registration of restrictive business agreements and other arrangements affecting international trade; and
- (b) to request information from Members in connection with such studies.

2. The Organization is authorized:

- (a) to make recommendations to Members concerning such conventions, laws and procedures as are relevant to their obligations under this Chapter; and
- (b) to arrange for conferences of Members to discuss any matters relating to restrictive business practices affecting international trade.

Article 50Obligations of Members

- 1. Each Member shall take all possible measures by legislation or otherwise, in accordance with its constitution or system of law and economic organization, to ensure, within its jurisdiction, that private and public commercial enterprises do not engage in practices which are as specified in paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 46 and have the effect indicated in paragraph 1 of that Article, and it shall assist the Organization in preventing these practices.
- 2. Each Member shall make adequate arrangements for presenting complaints, conducting investigations and preparing information and reports requested by the Organization.
- 3. Each Member shall furnish to the Organization, as promptly and as fully as possible, such information as is requested by the Organization for its consideration and investigation of complaints and for its conduct of studies under this Chapter; Provided that any Member on notification to the Organization, may withhold information which the Member considers is not essential to the Organization in conducting an adequate investigation and which, if disclosed, would substantially damage the legitimate business interests of a commercial enterprise. In notifying the Organization that it is withholding information pursuant to this clause, the Member shall indicate the general character of the information withheld and the reason why it considers it not essential.
- 4. Each Member shall take full account of each request, decision and recommendation of the Organization under Article 48 and, in accordance with its constitution or system of law and economic organization, take in the particular case the action it considers appropriate having regard to its obligations under this Chapter.
- 5. Each Member shall report fully any action taken, independently or in concert with other Members, to comply with the requests and carry out the recommendations of the Organization and, when no action has been taken, inform the Organization of the reasons therefore and discuss the matter further with the Organization if it so requests.

6. Each Member shall, at the request of the Organization, take part in consultations and conferences provided for in this Chapter with a view to reaching mutually satisfactory conclusions.

Article 51

Co-operative Remedial Arrangements

- 1. Members may co-operate with each other for the purpose of making more effective within their respective jurisdictions any remedial measures taken in furtherance of the objectives of this Chapter and consistent with their obligations under other provisions of this Charter.
- 2. Members shall keep the Organization informed of any decision to participate in any such co-operative action and of any measures taken.

Article 52

Domestic Measures against Restrictive Business Practices

No act or omission to act on the part of the Organization shall preclude any Member from enforcing any national statute or decree directed towards preventing monopoly or restraint of trade.

Article 53

Special Procedures with respect to Services

1. The Members recognize that certain services, such as transportation, telecommunications, insurance and the commercial services of banks, are substantial elements of international trade and that any restrictive business practices by enterprises engaged in these activities in international trade may have harmful effects similar to those indicated in paragraph 1 of Article 46. Such practices shall be dealt with in accordance with the following paragraphs of this Article.

- 2 If any Member considers that there exist restrictive business practices in relation to a service referred to in paragraph 1 which have or are about to have such harmful effects, and that its interests are thereby seriously prejudiced, the Member may submit a written statement explaining the situation to the Member or Members whose private or public enterprises are engaged in the services in question. The Member or Member concerned shall give sympathetic consideration to the statement and to such proposals as may be made and shall afford adequate opportunities for consultation, with a view to effecting a satisfactory adjustment.
- 3. If no adjustment can be effected in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 2, and if the matter is referred to the Organization, it shall be transferred to the appropriate inter-governmental organization, if one exists, with such observations as the Organization may wish to make. If no such inter-governmental organization exists, and if Members so request, the Organization may, in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1 (c) of Article 72, make recommendations for, and promote international agreement on, measures designed to remedy the particular situation so far as it comes within the scope of this Charter.
- 4. The Organization shall, in accordance with paragraph 1 of Article 87, co-operate with other inter-governmental organizations in connection with, restrictive business practices affecting any field coming within the scope of this Charter and those organizations shall be entitled to consult the Organization, to seek advice, and to ask that a study of a particular problem be made.

Article 54

Interpretation and Definition

1. The provisions of this Chapter shall be construed with due regard for the rights and obligations of Members set forth elsewhere in this Charter and shall not therefore be so interpreted as to prevent the adoption and enforcement of any measures in so far as they are specifically permitted under other Chapters of this Charter. The Organization may, however, make recommendations to Members or to any appropriate inter-governmental organization concerning any features of these measures which may have the effect indicated in paragraph I of Article 46.

2. For the purposes of this Chapter

- (a) the term "business practice" shall not be so construed as to include an individual contract between two parties as seller and buyer, lessor and lessee, or principal and agent, provided that such contract is not used to restrain competition, limit access to markets or foster monopolistic control:
- (b) the term "public commercial enterprises" means
 - agencies of governments in so far as they are engaged in trade, and
 - (ii) trading enterprises mainly or wholly owned by public authority, provided the Member concerned declares that for the purposes of this Chapter it has effective control over or assumes responsibility for the enterprises;
- (c) the term "private commercial enterprises" means all commercial enterprises other than public commercial enterprises;
- (d) the terms "decide" and "decision" as used in Articles 46, 48 (except in paragraphs 3 and 4) and 50 do not determine the obligations of Members, but mean only that the Organization reaches a conclusion.

World Trade Organization Centre William Rappard,

Centre William Happard,
Rue de Lausanne 154
CH-1211 Geneva 2
Switzerland
Tel. +41 (0)22 739 51 11
Email: enquiries@wto.org
Website: https://www.wto.org

